ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Pickens County

Honorable Edward W. Miller, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

LUTHER BRIAN MARCUS,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2017-002622

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

RECEIVED  
NOV 05 2018  
SC Court of Appeals

VICTOR R SEEGER  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

**

**STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL**

Whether the trial court erred when it revoked Appellant's probation in full where the trial judge indicated he had no discretion to determine if revocation of Appellant's probation in full was proper and where the judge failed to consider the evidence on the record that Appellant served almost a year imprisonment longer than his original sentence?

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On April 27, 2010, in front of the Honorable Alexander Macaulay, Appellant pled guilty to second-degree burglary in Oconee County. R. 1. Appellant was sentenced to fifteen years' imprisonment, suspended to seven years' imprisonment with five years' probation. R. 6, ll. 17 – 24.

Appellant was indicted for indecent exposure by the Pickens County Grand Jury during the May 2017 term. R. 10 – 11. Appellant's trial was held on December 11 and 12, 2017, in front of the Honorable Edward W. Miller. R. 1. Shannon Swords Odom represented the state. Id. David D. Cantrell, Jr. represented the Appellant. Id.

Appellant was found guilty as indicted. R. 4, ll. 21 – 24. Judge Miller sentenced Appellant to three years' imprisonment, and revoked his Oconee probation in full. R. 9, ll. 6 – 7.

This appeal follows.

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

The determination of whether to revoke probation in whole or part rests within the sound discretion of the trial court. State v. Miller, 122 S.C. 468, 474-75, 115 S.E. 742, 745 (1923); State v. Proctor, 345 S.C. 299, 301, 546 S.E.2d 673, 674 (Ct.App.2001); S.C.Code Ann. § 24-21-460 (1989). The trial court must determine whether the State has presented sufficient evidence to establish that a probationer has violated the conditions of his probation. State v. King, 221 S.C. 68, 73, 69 S.E.2d 123, 125 (1952); State v. White, 218 S.C. 130, 135, 61 S.E.2d 754, 756 (1950); State v. Hamilton, 333 S.C. 642, 648-49, 511 S.E.2d 94, 97 (Ct.App.1999). “While probation is a matter of grace, the probationer is entitled to fair treatment, and is not to be made the victim of whim or caprice.” White, 218 S.C. at 136, 61 S.E.2d at 756. An appellate court will not reverse the trial court's decision unless that court abused its discretion. White, 218 S.C. at 135, 61 S.E.2d at 756; Hamilton, 333 S.C. at 647, 511 S.E.2d at 96.

An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court's ruling is based upon an error of law, such as application of the wrong legal principle; or, when based upon factual conclusions, the ruling is without evidentiary support; or, when the trial court is vested with discretion, but the ruling reveals no discretion was exercised; or when the ruling does not fall within the range of permissible decisions applicable in a particular case, such that it may be deemed arbitrary and capricious. Fontaine v. Peitz, 291 S.C. 536, 539, 354 S.E.2d 565, 566 (1987); S.E.C. v. TheStreet.Com, 273 F.3d 222, 229 n. 6 (2d Cir.2001); State v. Allen, 370 S.C. 88, 94, 634 S.E.2d 653, 655–56 (2006).

## ARGUMENT

The trial court erred when it revoked Appellant's probation in full where the trial judge indicated he had no discretion to determine if revocation of Appellant's probation in full was proper and where the judge failed to consider the evidence on the record that Appellant served almost a year imprisonment longer than his original sentence.

### **Relevant Facts**

The state alleged that on December 13, 2016, Appellant willfully exposed himself in a public place. R. 2, l. 20 – 3, l. 3.

On December 11-12, 2017, Appellant's trial was held in Pickens County in front of the Honorable Edward W. Miller, and a jury. R. 1. Shannon Swords Odom represented the state. *Id.* David D. Cantrell represented Appellant. *Id.* Appellant was convicted of indecent exposure. R. 4, ll. 21 – 24. At the time of the conviction, Appellant was on probation from a prior conviction in Oconee County. R. 8, ll. 2 – 4.

On April 27, 2010, in front of the Honorable Alexander Macaulay, Appellant pled guilty to second-degree burglary in Oconee County<sup>1</sup>. R. 1. Appellant was sentenced to fifteen years' imprisonment, suspended to seven years' imprisonment with five years' probation. R. 6, ll. 17 – 24. The Oconee County second-degree burglary conviction imposed the probation sentence which was revoked upon Appellant's conviction in this case.

On December 12, 2017, after the jury found Appellant guilty in the present case, the trial court held a probation revocation hearing on the same day. R. 5, ll. 7 – 14.

---

<sup>1</sup> Appellant was also convicted of a second-degree burglary in Pickens County. However, the record indicates that Pickens County dismissed Appellant's probationary sentence prior to Appellant's conviction in this case. R. 7, ll. 16 – 23. Thus, only Appellant's probationary sentence in Oconee has been revoked.

Defense counsel argued that there were some legal issues surrounding the circumstances of Appellant's probation that the court needed to consider. R. 6, ll. 9 – 11. Defense counsel pointed out that Appellant was sentenced in Pickens County and then subsequently sentenced in Oconee County, "the largest overall sentencing in both were 15 years, in Pickens County suspended to five years' probation. In Oconee county... suspended to seven years and then probation." R. 6, ll. 20 – 22. The sentences in Oconee County ran concurrent with the Pickens County sentences and the Pickens County probation violation was dismissed prior to Appellant's indecent exposure conviction. R. 6, ll. 18 – 20; R. 7, ll. 16 – 23.

Defense counsel argued that after Appellant entered the South Carolina Department of Corrections, hereinafter SCDC, and "he ended up serving... a total time of seven years and 11 months." R. 6, l. 24 – 7, l. 1; R. 7, l. 4. Defense counsel calculated that if the additional 11 months that Appellant served in prison were counted towards his probationary sentence, his probation would have been maxed out by the time he was arrested on the current charges. R. 6, l. 24 – 7, l. 7.

Even if defense counsel's "max out" calculations were incorrect, if Appellant served an additional eleven months' imprisonment, he was entitled to the that time served credit to go towards the remaining eight years' imprisonment that the trial court imposed when it revoked Appellant's probation in full. The trial court had the ability to exercise its discretion to grant Appellant that time served towards the remaining years on his suspended sentence. If the trial court disagreed with defense counsel's argument he should have ruled against defense counsel, instead he abdicated his responsibility.

The trial court did not believe it had the authority to do anything other than revoke Appellant's probation in full. After defense counsel articulated his entire argument on the probation time served issue, the court responded that it was, "all not in my jurisdiction, as you are aware." R.

7, ll. 24 – 25. Appellant explained the time served issue in his own words as well, and the court responded, “you understand that’s not up to me.” R. 8, ll. 23.

The trial court abused its discretion by failing to recognize that it had the discretion to alter Appellant’s probationary sentence in any manner it deemed proper. Even if defense counsel and Appellant’s calculations regarding the “max out” of Appellant’s sentence were incorrect, the determination of how much of the probationary sentence should be revoked is still solely within the trial court’s jurisdiction. R. 6, l. 24 – 7, l. 7. Therefore, the trial court’s failure to recognize that it had the discretion to determine Appellant’s probationary sentence was an error, and that error prejudiced Appellant.

### **Discussion**

In the present case the trial court did not exercise its discretion to revoke Appellant’s probation in full, but based its refusal to modify Appellant’s probationary sentence on an erroneous view of the law that it had no jurisdiction to exercise discretion over Appellant’s probationary sentence.

The determination of whether to revoke probation in whole or part rests within the sound discretion of the trial court. State v. Miller, 122 S.C. 468, 474-75; 115 S.E. 742, 745 (1923); State v. Proctor, 345 S.C. 299, 301, 546 S.E.2d 673, 674 (Ct.App.2001). An appellate court will not reverse the trial court’s decision unless that court abused its discretion. White, 218 S.C. at 135, 61 S.E.2d at 756; Hamilton, 333 S.C. at 647, 511 S.E.2d at 96.

Failure to exercise discretion is an abuse of discretion. State v. Smith, 276 S.C. 494, 280 S.E.2d 200 (1981). “It is an equal abuse of discretion to refuse to exercise discretionary authority when it is warranted as it is to exercise the discretion improperly.” Id. at 498, 280 S.E.2d at 202. (see also State v. King, 422 S.C. 47, 68-69, 810 S.E.2d 18, 29 (2017); State v. Hughes, 346 S.C.

339, 343, 552 S.E.2d 35, 37 (2001); State v. Mansfield, 343 S.C. 66, 86, 538 S.E.2d 257, 267 (2000)).

In State v. Hawes, 411 S.C. 188, 767 S.E.2d 707 (2015) the defendant Alonzo Hawes killed his estranged wife and pled guilty to voluntary manslaughter. Id. at 189, 767 S.E.2d at 707. At the sentencing hearing, Hawes moved for early parole eligibility pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 16-25-90. That statute provides that an inmate who commits an offense against a household member “is eligible for parole after serving one-fourth of his prison term when the inmate... present[s] credible evidence of a history of criminal domestic violence... suffered at the hands of the household member.” S.C. Code Ann. § 16-25-90; Id. at 190, 767 S.E.2d at 708.

The trial court “concluded that it was ‘compelled’ to grant Hawes early parole eligibility in view of the ‘shall be’ language,” in the statute. Id. The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court’s decision. Id.

On appeal to the South Carolina Supreme Court, the state argued that the Court of Appeals erred in affirming the trial court because the trial court failed to exercise discretion. Id. The South Carolina Supreme Court agreed and held that, “the trial court must exercise discretion based on the evidence presented.” Id. at 191, 767 S.E.2d 708. In Hawes, the Court concluded that the trial court’s perceived limitation of discretion was reflected in the trial court’s comments during sentencing that it was, “compelled” to find in favor of Hawes and that the use of the word “shall” in the statute notes mandatory, not precatory, language. Id.

In State v. Smith, 276 S.C. 494, 280 S.E.2d 200 (1981) the defendant, Alton Smith, appealed the trial court’s refusal to modify or vacate his sentence. Smith, at 496, 280 S.E.2d at 201. Smith was tried and convicted in his absence for his third offense of driving under the

influence. Id. Smith argued that the trial judge erred in ruling he could not modify Smith's sentence because he did not have jurisdiction. Id. at 497, 280 S.E.2d at 201.

In Smith, the Supreme Court of South Carolina held that a judge is only "without authority to alter, amend or modify a sentence imposed by him (1) after the expiration of the term of court at which the sentence was imposed or (2) within the same term of court unless the State is afforded due notice." Id. The Court determined that the sentence was published to Smith on April 29, 1980, and the motions to modify or vacate his sentence were marked that same day. Id. at 498, 280 S.E.2d at 201. Therefore, "the motion [to modify or vacate] was made within the term of court at which the sentence became the judgment of the court and the sentencing judge had jurisdiction to alter, amend or modify [Smith's sentence ]". Id. at 498, 280 S.E.2d at 201-202.

Additionally, the Court held, "the authority to change a sentence rests **solely and exclusively in the hands of the sentencing judge** within the exercise of his discretion. Id. at 498, 280 S.E.2d at 202. (emphasis added) In Smith, the Court held the judge did not exercise his discretion because he based his ruling on an erroneous view of the law. Id. The Court added that the exercise of discretion must not be illusory, "the mere recital of the discretionary decision is not sufficient to bring into operation a determination that discretion was exercised. **It should be stated on what basis the discretion was exercised.**" Id. (emphasis added)

In the instant case the trial court failed to recognize that it had discretion over Appellant's probationary sentence. As in Hawes, the trial court's "perceived limitation of discretion," in the instant case, was reflected by the comments the trial judge made during the probation revocation hearing. The judge stated the probation time served issue was, "all not in my jurisdiction," and that the determination of Appellant's probationary sentence was, "not up to me." R. 7, ll. 24 – 25; R. 8,

ll. 23. Moreover, the trial court failed in the same manner as in Smith, in that the trial court did not state on what basis its discretion was exercised.

Therefore, the trial court abused its discretion when it failed to recognize it had the ability to exercise discretion over Appellant's probationary sentence. That failure prejudiced Appellant because there was evidence on the record that Appellant served almost a year imprisonment longer than the original sentence imposed and the trial court could have taken that evidence into consideration under its discretion.

**CONCLUSION**

By reason of the foregoing arguments Appellant respectfully requests that his case be remanded to the Pickens County Court of General Sessions for a hearing to determine the amount of time served credit he is entitled to receive.

*Victor R. Seeger*

---

Victor R Seeger  
Appellate Defender

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT