STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal From Pickens County  
The Honorable Edward W. Miller, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2017-002622

---

**RECEIVED**  
SEP 20 2018  
SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE, ... .. RESPONDENT

v.

LUTHER BRIAN MARCUS ... .. APPELLANT

---

**INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

**Thomas W. Nicholson,  
Legal Counsel**

**South Carolina Department of Probation,  
Parole and Pardon Services  
P.O. Box 50666  
Columbia, South Carolina 29250**

**ATTORNEY FOR THE RESPONDENT**

**

**STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL**

- 1. Whether the trial court abused its discretion when it revoked the Appellant's probation in full?**

**STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

The Respondent concurs with the Appellant's Statement of the Case.

## ARGUMENT

### I. THE JUDGE DID NOT ABUSE HIS DISCRETION WHEN HE REVOKED THE APPELLANT'S PROBATION AND SENTENCED HIM TO THE MAXIMUM TIME REMAINING IN HIS SENTENCE.

On April 27, 2010 in Oconee County the Appellant was convicted of second degree burglary and was sentenced to fifteen years imprisonment, suspended to seven years to serve, with five years of probation on release from prison. R.\*; Tr. 143 ll. 23-24. The South Carolina Department of Corrections (SCDC) released him from imprisonment for this charge on September 30, 2016. Tr. 145 ll. 3-4. Soon thereafter he was charged with willfully exposing himself in a public place, which the State alleged to have occurred on December 13, 2016. Tr. 5, ll. 20-25; Tr. 6, ll. 1-3. He was convicted of this charge on December 12, 2017. R\*.; Tr. 140, ll. 22-24. After the verdict, the Court took up the matter of the Appellant's probation violation. Tr. 143-146. Counsel for the Appellant, David D. Cantrell (Cantrell) claimed that SCDC had erred in the amount of time Appellant was required to serve in prison on the underlying conviction. Specifically he claimed that SCDC had imprisoned the Appellant for eleven months longer than the suspended sentence required. Tr. 143, ll. 24-25; Tr. 144, ll. 1-2. He pointed out that the Appellant had been serving several Oconee and Pickens County convictions concurrently. Tr. 143, ll. 17-24. He stated that because the Appellant had served more time than the suspended sentence required, this would "max out his sentence on the 15-year sentence, therefore he should not be continued on probation . . . ." Tr. 144, ll. 5-7. He also stated that "we believe he would be entitled to all credit for all of those times and that that would – should be credited to any active sentences, and that that maxed him out on all the sentences." Tr. 144, ll. 12-15. After Cantrell's statements, Judge Edward W. Miller (the Judge) responded "Well, that's all not in my jurisdiction, as you are aware." Tr. 144, ll. 24-25. A little later in the hearing the Appellant himself stated "I just feel like I maxed a total

of 15 years out from those suspended sentences . . . . I feel like I gave my time to the State”. The Judge responded with “[y]ou understand that’s not up to me.” Tr.145, ll. 18-23. Thereafter the Judge sentenced him to three years for the willful exposure conviction, and revoked the entirety of the time remaining in the underlying sentence. Tr. 146, ll. 6-7.

**Discussion.**

A. The Judge Correctly Believed He Had No Jurisdiction Over Prison Term Calculations Performed By SCDC.

In his brief, the Appellant claims that when the judge revoked the Appellant’s probation, he was not doing so because he believed he had jurisdiction and discretion to do so, but because he didn’t believe he had discretion to modify the terms of Appellant’s probation. Alternatively stated, the Appellant argues that the judge believed he only had discretion to fully revoke the Appellant’s probation.<sup>1</sup> This claim is based on the Judge’s statements in responses to the Appellant and to his counsel. However, this is not a reasonable interpretation of those statements. Instead, they indicated that the Judge did not believe he had jurisdiction over time served calculations properly made by SCDC. Cantrell claimed that the Appellant had maxed out the total amount of prison time he should have served, and that SCDC then improperly held him for a further eleven months. Tr. 143, ll. 24-25; Tr. 144, ll. 1-2. He appears to have wanted the judge to treat the alleged extra amount of time served by the Appellant as time served against any further penalty of jail time for the probation violation. Other than his own statements, Cantrell provided no evidence that SCDC had in fact held the Appellant too long, or that he had maxed out his sentence.<sup>2</sup> After Cantrell made this argument, which was premised on an error by SCDC, the Judge stated in response “Well,

---

<sup>1</sup> See Appellant’s Initial Brief, pp. 5 and 6.

<sup>2</sup> Note that the Appellant was released from prison 6 years, 5 months, and 3 days after his conviction; 04-27-10 through 09-30-16.

that's all not in my jurisdiction, as you are aware." Tr. 144, ll. 24-25. The only reasonable interpretation of this response is that the Judge meant that he had no jurisdiction to determine exactly how much time the Appellant should have served, or *should serve* when revoked, because the General Assembly had assigned this responsibility to SCDC. See infra Section B. If the Judge revoked his probation and sentenced him to prison time, it may be that the extra time Cantrell alleged the Appellant had served should shorten the amount of time he would actually serve, but that determination would be up to SCDC, not the trial court. This is why, when the Appellant stated that "I feel like I gave my time to the State", the Judge replied with "[y]ou understand that's not up to me". Tr. 145, ll. 18-23. He was not in either instance referring to his discretionary power over the terms and conditions of the Appellant's probation; he was referring to his jurisdiction to calculate the proper length of prison terms *after incarceration by SCDC*. He correctly stated that he had no jurisdiction to make such calculations.

B. The South Carolina Department of Corrections Has Jurisdiction Over Calculating the Amount of Time To Be Served by Prisoners.

The Appellant claims that the Judge abused his discretion because he failed to exercise his power to modify the terms and conditions of probation. However, what the Appellant was asking the Judge to do was to abuse his discretion by making prison time served calculations that were not within his power to make. This is because after a person has been sentenced and bound over to SCDC's custody, it is SCDC that calculates the total amount of time for which the person should actually be imprisoned. "There is hereby created as an administrative agency of the State government the Department of Corrections. The functions of the Department shall be to implement and carry out the policy of the State with respect to its prison system . . . and the performance of such other duties and matters as may be delegated to it pursuant to law." S.C. Code § 24-1-30. "The director shall be vested with the exclusive management and control of the prison system, and

all properties belonging thereto . . . and shall be responsible for the management of the affairs of the prison system and for the proper care, treatment, feeding, clothing, and management of the prisoners confined therein. The director shall manage and control the prison system.” S.C. Code § 24-1-130. The management of the prison system includes determining the length of time served:

The computation of the time served by prisoners under sentences imposed by the courts of this State must be calculated from the date of the imposition of the sentence. However, when (a) a prisoner shall have given notice of intention to appeal, (b) the commencement of the service of the sentence follows the revocation of probation, or (c) the court shall have designated a specific time for the commencement of the service of the sentence, the computation of the time served must be calculated from the date of the commencement of the service of the sentence. In every case in computing the time served by a prisoner, full credit against the sentence must be given for time served prior to trial and sentencing, and may be given for any time spent under monitored house arrest.

S.C. Code Ann. § 24-13-40

It may be that the Appellant is entitled to get credit for time served before his probation was revoked, but this will be determined by SCDC. It may also be that the amount of time he serves will be reduced for other reasons. See e.g. S.C. Code §§ 24-13-210 (credit given inmates for good behavior); 24-13-220 (time off for good behavior in cases of commuted or suspended sentences); 24-13-150 (early release, discharge, and community supervision; limitations; forfeiture of credits). However, with regards to the Appellant, these calculations are to be made by SCDC, not the court.

C. Counsel For the Appellant Did Not Request a Partial Revocation, Therefore the Judge Could Not Have Abused His Discretion When He Did Not Order a Partial Revocation.

The General Assembly granted the State’s circuit judges the discretion to revoke an offender’s probation in part or in full:

[T]he court . . . shall cause the defendant to be brought before it and may revoke the probation or suspension of sentence and shall proceed to deal with the case as if there had been no probation or suspension of sentence except that the circuit judge before whom such defendant may be so brought shall have the right, in his discretion, to require the defendant to serve all or a portion only of the sentence imposed. Should only a portion of the sentence imposed be put into effect, the remainder of such sentence shall remain in full force and effect and the defendant may again, from time to time, be brought before the circuit court so long as all of his sentence has not been served and the period of probation has not expired.

S.C. Code Ann. § 24-21-460

“The decision to revoke probation is in the discretion of the circuit court judge.” State v. Williamson, 356 S.C. 507, 510, 589 S.E.2d 787, 788 (Ct. App. 2003). “This [C]ourt's authority to review such a decision is confined to correcting errors of law unless the lack of legal or evidentiary basis indicates the circuit judge's decision was arbitrary and capricious.” Id. (quoting State v. Hamilton, 333 S.C. 642, 647, 511 S.E.2d 94, 96 (Ct.App.1999)).

The Appellant argues that the Judge abused his discretion because he did not consider a partial rather than full revocation, or consider otherwise modifying the terms of his probation. However, the Appellant’s counsel, Cantrell, was not asking the court for a partial revocation. It appears that he wanted the judge to treat the Appellant’s alleged excess time served in prison on the underlying sentence as time served against any penalty for the probation violation, and apparently also wanted him to terminate the Appellant’s probation. He claimed that SCDC had jailed the Appellant for too long, and made a couple of indirect statement about what should happen: “So we believe that that would, in fact, max out his sentence on the 15-year sentence, therefore, he should not be continued on probation . . . .” Tr. 144, ll. 4-7. He stated further that “we believe he would be entitled to all credit for all of those times and that that would – should be credited to any active sentences, and that that maxed him out on all the sentences.” Tr. 144, ll.12-15. In any case there is no refusal by the Judge to consider a partial revocation because Appellant’s counsel never asked

for one, and under the circumstances revoking his probation in full instead of simply terminating his probation was entirely within the judge's discretion.